IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF wEST VIRGINIA 

CHARLESTON 


EMPLOYEE RESOURCE GROUP, LLC, 
and CHARLES RICE, 

Petitioners 

Appeal No.: 16-0493 
v. 

CONNIE HARLESS, 

Respondent. 

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER FROM 

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BOONE COUNTY, 


WEST VIRGINIA 


PETITION FOR APPEAL 


TO: THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS 
OF WEST VIRGINIA: 

I.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Circuit Court ofBoone County, West Virginia erred in refusing to enforce the 
arbitration program. 
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II. 


STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


This appeal comes to the Court as a result of the Boone Circuit Court's April 29, 

2016 Order fmding the Petitioner's Dispute Resolution Program, namely! its mandatory. 

arbitration provisions, to be unconscionable. App. 80-85. This Order was issued after this Court 

refused to accept the Circuit Court's certjfied questions. This Court's Order was issued on 

February 24, 2016 and the certified questions were declined stating that the trial court failed to 

develop a sufficient factual record for the review. App. 77. Then, the trial court simply pasted 

the Respondent's brief onto its Order and denied the Petitioners' motion to .enforce the 

arbitration agreement. 

On or about March 21, 2005 the Respondent was presented with the Dispute 

Resolution Program Booklet. A copy of the booklet is included in the Appendix as Item 4, pages 

41-48. Respondent, who was going by the name Connie Sutphin at the time, signed the 

Acknowledgment and agreed that she would be subject to the arbitration program. A copy of 

that signed Acknowledgment is included in the Appendix as Item 5, p. 49. These documents 

show the existence of a contract between Respondent and Petitioner Employee Resource Group 

to resolve their legal claims or disputes covered by the Agreement through binding arbitration. 

Pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Program, the parties have. contracted to resolve their ~sputes 

by way of arbitration and not by filing a lawsuit with this or any other court. The parties have 

contractually agreed this Court does not have jurisdiction to hear this matter nor is it the proper 

venue. 

. Respondent fIled her Complaint alleging theories of discrimination in violation of 

the West Virginia Human Rights Act and wrongful discharge. Both of these claims are covered 
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in the Arbitration Agreement. On page four of the Dispute Resolution Program Booklet claims 

for discrimination and wrongful termination are specifically identified as claims covered by the 

agreement to ·arbitrate. App. 45. Further, claims against both the company as well as its 

"officers, directors, shareholders, employees or agents" are covered by the agreement to 

arbitrate. App 45. 

III. 

S~YOFARGUMENT 

The Petitioner's Dispute Resolution Program is not unconscionable and therefore 

unenforceable as ~. matter of law. To the contrary, the Dispute Resolution Program is 

enforceable as a matter of law and should be enforced in this case as welL 

N. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Petitioner requests oral argument in accord with Rule 20. 

V. 


ARGUMENT 


The trial court refused to enforce the arbitration . agreement because it mistakenly 

fOlmd the arbitration agreement unconscionable. First, the trial court found that the requirement 

that the parties go to mediation prior to a request for arbitration being filed is unconscionable as 

it places an unnecessary hurdle for the Respondent to overcome prior to filing for arbitration. 

Second, the trial court also found that the provisions that afford the arbitrator with the power to 

award attorneys' fees and costs to one party if the other party engages in frivolous or 

unreasonable conduct or pursues factually groundless positions or arguments. Third, the trial 

court found the portion of the arbitration agreement that addressed the concept of breach of the 
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arbitration agreement unconscionable. ' Finally, the trial court found the signature page of the 

agreement lacking as it failed to restate various provisions contained in the dispute resolution 

program and failed to use the word "agreement." As can be seen below, each of these [mdings 

were erroneous and this matter should be sent to arbitration without further delay. 

Whether or not the arbitration agreement is unconscionable is a question of law. 

"Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an 

interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review." Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie 

A.L., Syi. Pt. 1, 194 W. Va. 138,459 S.E.2d 415 (1995). This Court has previously ruled when 

it comes to motions to enforce arbitration agreements, its review is de novo. Shorts v. AT&T 

Mobility, 2013 W.Va. LEXIS 720, p. 11. 

1. Arbitration agreements are not per se unconscionable. 

The Federal Arbitration Act states that it is the public policy to encourage litigants 

to resolve their disputes by means other than litigation. The FAA reflects "a liberal federal 

policy favoring arbitration agreements." Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 

460 U.S. 1,24, 103 S.Ct. 927, 74 L.Ed.2d 765 (1983). Underlying this policy is Congress's view 

that arbitration constitutes a more efficient dispute resolution process than litigation. Hightower 

v. GMRI, Inc., 272 F.3d 239, 241 (4th Cir.2001). The purpose of the FAA was "to relieve 

congestion in the courts and to provide parties with an alternative method for dispute resolution 

that is speedier and less costly than litigation." Indus. Risk Insurers v. M.A.N. 

Gutehoffuungshutte GmbH, 141 F.3d 1434, 1440 (lIth Cir.1998). 

Further, the recently enacted Revised Uniform Arbitration Act codified at WV 

Code 55-10-2 states: 

The Legislature finds that: 
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(1) Arbitration, as a form of alternative dispute resolution, 
offers in many instances a more efficient and cost-effective 
alternative to court litigation. 

(2) The United States has a well-established federal policy in 
favor of arbitral dispute resolution, as identified both by the 
Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1, et seq., and the decisions of 
the·SUpreme Court of the United States. 

(3) Arbitration already provides participants with many of the 
same procedural rights' and safeguards as traditional litigation, and 
ensuring that those rights and safeguards are guaranteed to 
participants will ensure that arbitration remains a fair and viable 
alternative to court litigation and guarantee that no party to an 
arbitration agreement is unfairly prejudiced by agreeing to an 
arbitration agreement or provision. 

Accordingly, the concept of mandatory arbitration in and of itself cannot be perceived as 

unconscionable as a matter oflaw. 

1. The mediation requirement is not unconscionable~ 

. The requirement for the parties to engage in mediation prior to instituting 

arbitration is not unconscionable. While not specifically addressed by this Court, this issue has 

been address in other states. For instance, the Southern District of Texas held that requiring 

mediation prior to proceeding to arbitration is not unconsc~onable. Coronado v. D N.W. 

Houston, Inc., 2015 US Dist LEXIS 134299, p. 26. In reviewing the arbitration agreement for 

Aqua Glass Inc. in two separate cases, the Oregon District Court held that arbitration agreements 

that contain mandatory mediation requirements are enforceable. Miller v. Aqua Glass Inc, 2008 

US Dist LEXIS 72363~ p. 11 and Hamrick v. Aqua Glass Inc, 2008 US Dist LEXIS 71402, p. 11, 

citing Dombrowski v. GMC 318 F.Supp2d 850, 851 (US DC Arizona 2004) and Bolduc v. 

BridgestonelFirestone, 116 F.Supp2d 322 (US DC Conn. 2000). The Northern District of 

Illinois did not take issue with a requirement for mediation prior to proceeding with arbitration 

either. Sanchez v. CleanNet USA Inc., 78 F.Supp3d 747, 755-56 (2015). Lastly, this Court 
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should take notice that many of the circuit courts throughout this State require the parties to 

med~ate their claims before being permitted to proceed to trial. Thus, to claim mediation is an 

unconscionable and overly burdensome requirement makes little sense when plaintiffs around 

the 'state are required to engage in it. 

The issue surrounding the mediation requirement is also misleading. Petitioner 

did not file a motion with the trial court seeking to be referred to mediation. Instead, the 

Petitioner seeks to have this matter sent directly to arbitration. Petitioner clearly stated in its 

reply brief at the trial court level that it waived the mediation requirement. In a somewhat 

similar situation, a court in California found that there was no purpose in arguing or evaluating 

whether or not the costs associated with a pie-mediation requirement to arbitration made the 

arbitration agreement unconscionable because the employer was not seeking to compel 

mediation, it was seeking arbitration. Montgomery v. Solomon Edwards Group, LLC, 2015 Cal 

App Unpub LEXIS 7272. 

2. The arbitration agreement does not allow for penalties not provided under law. 

Next, the trial ~ourt found the arbitration agreement unconscionable because it 

mistakenly believed that the arbitrator was given the power to award damages not recognized 

under the law. Specifically, the trial court referred to the following language which appears on 

page six, paragraph four of the Dispute Resolution Program Booklet: "The arbitrator may assess 

attorneys' fees against a party upon showing by the other party that the first party's claim is 

frivolous or unreasonable or factually groundless." App. 47. Courts throughout this State are 

empowered to award these very damages for these very reasons. For example, West Virginia 

Rule of Civil Procedure 37(a)(4) authorizes courts to award the moving party reasonable 

expenses including attorneys' fees if that party has to obtain a court order commanding the other 
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party to respond or participate in discovery. Rule 37(b)(2) empowers the court to award 

reasonable expenses including attorneys' fees if the other party fails to comply with a court 

order. Rule 37(c) allows the court to award reasonable expenses including attorneys' fees when 

the other party improperly refuses to admit the truth of a matter pursuant to Rule 36. Similady, 

Rule 37(d) allows the court to award reasonable expenses including attorneys' fees when the 

other party fails to appear at its own deposition, respond to interrogatories or respond to a request 

for inspection. And finally, Rule 37(e) allows the court to award reasonable expenses including 

attorneys' fees when the other party fails to participate in the framing of a disGovery plan. Rule 

11 also allows for the imposition ofattorneys' fees and costs. 

Finally, this Court upheld a decision by a trial court to award attorneys' fees and 

costs to the defendant in a personal injury suit when it was learned during trial that the plaintiff 

had fraudulently misrepresented his physical condition and injuries. Defendant introduced 

surveillance footage of the plaintiff engaged in strenuous physical activities that he claimed he 

was unable to perform as a result of the accitlent. After reviewing the surveillance, the trial court 

declared a mistrial and awarded fees to the defense. Pritt-v. Suzuki Motor Co. 204 W.Va 388, 

513 S.E.2d 161 (1998). 

Previous to Pritt, this Court held "A court may order payment by an attorney to a 

prevailing party reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred as the result of his or her vexatious, 

wanton, or oppressive assertion of a claim or defense that cannot be supported by a good faith 

argument for the application, extension, modification, or reversal of existing law." Daily Gazette 

Co. v. Canady, Syllabus, 175 W. Va. 249 at 250, 332 S.E.2d 262 at 263. And in State ex reI. 

Roy Allen S. v. Stone, Syl. Pt. 4, 196 W. Va. 624, 626, 474 S.E.2d 554, 556 (1996) this Court 

held the "circuit court has discretion [under Rule 11 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil 
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Procedure] to impose attorney's fees on litigants who bring vexatious and groundless lawsuits." 

Thus, empowering an arbitrator to make the exact same fmdings as the trial court is not 

tantamount to allowing the arbitrator to award penalties not provided under the law. 

3. The damages for breach of the arbitration agreement are not unconscionable. 

The trial court also found that the damages for breach of contract section of the 

arbitration agreement also amounted to permitting the arbitrator to award penalties not 

recognized by law. Again, the trial court was mistaken. The arbitration agreement states that if a 

party pursues in court and action that should have been brought to arbitration, the opposing party 

is entitled to a dismissal of that action, an order remanding the trial to arbitration, and an award 

of attorneys' fees and costs for having to bring the motion. App. 47. The same analysis in 

regards to frivolous actions applies here. 

4. The signed acknowledgment is proof of the agreement. 

The trial court needlessly engaged in contract interpretation when the language 

was clear. The acknowledgment page signed by the Respondent states that she has received the 

dispute resolution program and "understands and agree~ that it applies to her." App. 49. This 

language is unambiguous and not in need of interpretation. Nonetheless, the trial court engaged 

in interpretation and proceeded to misinterpret the language. The trial court found that this 

language do~s not amount to an agreement because the word "agreement" never appears on the 

signature page. 

The question as to whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law to be 

determined by the col:JI1:. Citynet, LLC v. Toney,_Syl Pt. 1,235 W.Va. 79, 772 S.E.2d 36 (2015) 

citing Berkeley County Public Service Dist. v. Vitro Corporation of America, 152 W.Va. 252, 

162.S.E.2d 189 (1968). When the language of a contract is clear and unambiguous, it must be 
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applied, not construed or interpreted. Citynet, LLC supra SyI. Pt. 2 citing Bethlehem Mines 

Corp. v. Haden, 153 W.Va. 721, 172 S.E.2d 126 (1969). Courts should not alter or destroy the 

clear meaning and intent of the parties expressed in the unambiguous tenus of their contract. 

Citynet supra Syl Pt. 3, citing Cotiga Development Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co., 147 W. Va. 484, 

128 S.E.2d 626 (1962), Hatfield v. Health Management Associates of West Virginia, 223 W. Va. 

259, 672 S.E.2d 395 (2008). Dan's Carworld, LLC v. Serian, 223 W. Va. 478, 677 S.E.2d 914 

(2009). 

The language at issue is simple and unambiguous. It is, verbatim, as follows: 

I hereby acknowledge that I received a copy of the Company's 
Dispute Resolution Program Booklet effective April 1, 2005 and a 
copy ofTheresa Johnson's letter ofFebruary 9, 2005. I understand 
and agree that the Dispute Resolution Program shall apply to me. 

App. 49, emphasis added. Paragraph 17 of the trial court's order states in pertinent part "The 

acceptance page Plaintiff was alleg~dly required to sign simply stated that individual 

"acknowledges" that she has received a copy of the program and that it "shall apply to me." It 

does not say that it is an agreement." App. 84. While the trial court is technically correct that the 

word "agreement" does not appear on the signature page, its conclusion that it is not an 

agreement is simply impossible. The language is clear and unambiguous "I understand and 

agree that the Dispute Resolution Program shall apply to me." App. 49, emphasis added. 

5. 	The signed acknowledgment need not restate all the terms and conditions in the booklet. 

The trial court took issue with the fact that the signature page did not contain 

language stating that the employee was waiving her rights or that there was a mandatory 

. arbitration provision. However, this language is in the booklet Respondent acknowledged that 

she received. The following language appears in all caps and bold on the first page of the 

booklet: 
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TillS PROGRAM IS A CONDITION OF YOUR 
EMPLOYMENT AND IS THE MANDATORY AND 
EXCLUSIVE MEANS BY WHICH THOSE PROBLEMS 
MAY BE RESOLVED SO READ THE INFORMATION IN 
TillS BOOKLET CAREFULLY. 

App. 42. Then on the last page, page 7, the very last sentence is bolded and reads as follows: 

This Program will prevent you from f1ling a lawsuit in Court for individual relief for a legal 

claim subject to arbitration. App. 48. 

Accordingly, at both the beginning and epd of the booklet in typeface that is 

separate and distinct from the rest of the words on the page, the reader is told that the procedure 

outlined in the book is "mandatory," that it is the exclusive procedure to resolve problems, and 

that she cannot file a lawsuit for a legal claim subject to arbitration. "A court can assume that a 

party to a contract has read and assented to its terms, and absent fraud, misrepresentation, duress, 

or the like, the court can assume that the parties intended to enforce the contract as drafted." 

New v. GameStop, Inc. 232 W.Va. 564, 578, 753 S.E.2d 62, citing Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc. 

185 F.Supp.2d.628, 638 (S.D.W.Va. 2001), Sedlock v. Moyle, 222 W.Va. 547, 551, 668 S.E.2d 

176, 180 (2008) (stating that "in the absence of extraordinary circumstances, the failure to read a 

contract before signing it does not excuse a person from being bound by its terms ... [and] [t]he 

person who fails to read a document to which he places his signature does so at his peril." 

quoting Reddy v. emty. Health Found. of Man, 171 W.Va. 368, 373, 298 S.E.2d 906, 910 

(1982)). Here, like in New v. GameStop, no evidence was presented by the Respondent "to rebut 

the presumption that a party to a contract is charged with knowledge of its terms." There is no 

evidence in the record to show that the manner or setting in which the Respondent received the 

Dispute Resolution Booklet or signed the acknowledgment fonn prevented her from having a 

reasonable opportunity to understand the terms of the agreement. Further, just like in New v. 
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GameStop, the Respondent did not offer any evidence that she was incapable due to age, literacy 

or lack of sophistication to understand the Dispute Resolution Booklet. Indeed, Respondent did 

not even testify at the hearing at the trial court level to deny that she understood the terms or 

conditions of the program. 

6. The arbitration agreement from Richmond American Homes is not comparable. 

In its ruling, the trial court referenced the arbitration agreement from State ex reI. 

Richmond Am. Homes of W. Va., Inc. v. Sanders, 228 W. Va. 125, 717 S.E.2d 909 CW. Va. 

2011) and the rationale behind fmding that arbitration agreement to be unconscionable. 

However, the differences between the Richmond Homes agreement and the one in this case are 

night and day. In Richmond Homes, the arbitration contract limited compensatory and punitive 

damages. It eliminated liability based upon the implied warranty of habitability. It limited 

recovery in radon gas claims. Here, the arbitration agreement states "if you win, the arbitrator 

can award you anything you might seek through a court of law." App. 45. Furthermore, the 

arbitration agreement states that "The arbitrator shall apply the substantive law and the laws of 

remedies, if applicable, in the state in which the claim arose, or federal law or both, depending 

upon the claims asserted." App. 46. Accordingly, it is quite clear that there is no limitation of 

recoverable d~ages in this arbitration agreement. 

Further, this arbitration agreement has very fair terms when it comes to the actual 

process. The rules of the AAA will be applied. The Respondent is to pay the initial filing fee, 

up to $125. The Company will pay the rest of the fee and all the arbitrator's fees. If the 

Respondent is unable to afford the $125, the Company will pay it for her. App. 44. The 

arbitration is to be conducted in the community where the Respondent is employed or at another 

mutually agreeable location. App. 45. The Respondent and the Company have the right to take 
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depositions of individuals and experts. The arbitrator shall allow more than "minimal 

discovery." Subpoenas shall be issued in accord with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Motions to dismiss or for summary judgment shall be ruled upon in accord with the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure. At least 30 days before the arbitration the parties are to exchange 

witness lists and provide copies of exhibits to be used at arbitration. App. 46. This is not one of 

those agreements where the drafter creates a prqcess weighted in its favor that it tries to pass off 

as being fair and balanced. 

VI. 


CONCLUSION 


WHEREFORE, the Petitioner prays that this Honorable Court will reverse the Boone 

County Circuit Court order of January 19, 2016 refusing to enforce the arbitration agreement.