SUMMARY RESPONSE 


The Respondent, Connie Harless, hereby files her "Summary Response" pursuant to Rule 

1O(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Respondent files a "Summary 

Response" due to the narrow issue presented and the lack of extensive substantive argument 

contained in Petitioners' Brief. The Respondent consents to the waiver of oral argument and 

asserts that oral argument is unnecessary in this matter.

INTRODUCTION 

The Respondent, Connie Harless, was employed by Petitioner Employee Resources 

Group, LLC as a Store Manager of a Wendy's fast food restaurant (as well as in other capacities) 

from approximately 1984 through January 20,2014. (A.R. at 5). In that position the Respondent 

was supervised by Petitioner Charles Rice. (AR. at 4). 

During Respondent's employment another employee sexually harassed the female 

employees at the Danville, West Virginia location where Respondent was employed. This 

inappropriate behavior was reported to the Respondent, who subsequently informed the 

harassing employee that his actions were improper and that he should stop the behavior. 

Respondent also reported the behavior to her immediate supervisor, Charles Rice. (AR. at 5). 

Shortly thereafter, the Respondent's employment was terminated by the Petitioners 

because she made complaints about the hostile work environment that was created in the 

Danville, West Virginia location. The Petitioners' actions in terminating the Respondent's 

employment and permitting a hostile work environment to exist at the Danville, West Virginia 

location were a violation ofthe West Virginia Human Rights Act. As a result of these violations, 

the Respondent filed her Complaint in this matter. (AR. 3-7). 
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After Respondent filed her Complaint, Petitioners filed an Answer. Subsequent to the 

Answer, the Petitioners filed a Motion To Enforce Arbitration alleging that the parties had 

agreed to arbitrate the matters in issue in the Complaint. After considering the briefs of the 

parties and hearing oral argument on the issue, the Honorable William S. Thompson of the 

Circuit Court of Boone County, West Virginia denied Petitioners' Motion To Enforce 

Arbitration finding that no enforceable arbitration agreement existed. (A.R. 80-85). It is from 

that Order that Petitioners' appeal. 

ARGUMENT 

The Petitioners have filed a brief seeking for this Court to find an enforceable arbitration 

agreement between the parties despite the fact that it is a contract of adhesion which substantially 

alters the rights of the Respondent and seeks to impermissibly shift attorney fees and costs of 

arbitration to the Respondent. 

In West Virginia, when a party to a civil action asserts arbitration is the exclusive means 

of addressing disputes, a circuit court must, as it did in this case, review the arbitration 

agreement to determine, first, whether an enforceable arbitration agreement exists and, second, 

whether the particular dispute before the court falls within the ambit of the agreement. Syl. pt. 4, 

Ruckdeschel v. Falcon Drilling Co., L.L.c., 225 W. Va. 450, 693 S.E.2d 815 (2010). 

In this case, the Circuit Court found that the Petitioners failed to meet the first criteria: 

whether an enforceable arbitration agreement exists. A circuit court may justifiably refuse to 

enforce a contract that is unconscionable. The question of whether an agreement is 

unconscionable should be resolved on a case-by-case basis. Syl. pt. 9, Dan Ryan Builders v. 

Nelson, 230 W. Va. 281, 737 S.E.2d 550 (2012). 
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The law requires both procedural and substantive unconscionability, but both need not be 

present to the same degree. Instead, courts apply a "sliding scale" analysis. "[T]he more 

substantively oppressive the contract term, the less evidence of procedural unconscionability is 

required to come to the conclusion that the clause is unenforceable, and vice versa." Syl. pt. 9, 

Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp., 229 W. Va. 382, 386, 729 S.E.2d 217, 221 (2012) ("Brown 

II"). The Circuit Court correctly ruled that both were present. 

"Substantive unconscionability involves tmfairness in the contract itself and whether a 

contract term is one-sided and will have an overly harsh effect on the disadvantaged party. The 

factors to be weighed in assessing substantive unconscionability vary with the content of the 

agreement. Generally, courts should consider the commercial reasonableness of the contract 

terms, the purpose and effect of the terms, the allocation of the risks between the parties, and 

public policy concerns." Syl. pt. 12, Brown II, 229 W. Va. at 386, 729 S.E.2d at 221. 

In this case the "agreement" at issue not only precludes the Respondent from filing a 

lawsuit, it also precludes the Respondent from even instituting arbitration proceedings without 

first resorting to the Petitioners' "Dispute Resolution Program" requiring mediation. Placing the 

roadblock of mediation in the Respondent's path before she can even institute arbitration goes 

beyond simply requiring the Respondent to litigate her claims in another forum. It requires her 

to jump through additional hoops to even get to the arbitration process. Such a requirement is 

indicative of substantive unconscionability. 

Significantly, the "agreement" has certain penalties not provided for under the law that 

serve to discourage Respondents from actually pursuing their claims. For instance, the 

"agreement" indicates that "[t]he arbitrator may assess attorneys' fees against a party upon 
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showing by the other party that the first party's claim is frivolous or unreasonable or factually 

groundless." (A.R. at 47) (emphasis added). 

Likewise, the "agreement" provides: 

If either party pursues a legal claim covered by the Dispute 
Resolution Program in court by any means other than arbitration, 
the responding party shall be entitled to stay or dismissal of such 
action, the remand of such action to arbitration, and the recovery of 
all costs and attorneys' fees and expenses related to such action. 

(A.R. at 47). 

The Circuit Court correctly determined that these provisions deter individuals from 

pursing their rights and go way beyond a simple agreement to arbitrate disputes arising from the 

relationship. As stated by the Circuit Court: 

There is no requirement under the law that a party be granted 
attorney fees against a claimant that makes an "unreasonable" 
complaint. These provisions serve to deter the filing of claims in a 
way that is not provided for under the "law. Thus, they are also 
indicative of substantive unconscionability. 

(A.R. at 83). 

In their Appeal Brief before this Court, the Petitioners argue that the penalties referenced 

above already exist and apply to the Respondent and others in cases alleging violation of the 

West Virginia Human Rights Act. In fact, Petitioners state, "[c]ourts throughout this State are 

empowered to award these very damages for these very reasons." Petitioners analogize to the 

sanctions authorized under some circumstances by West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 37 or 

where a party commits fraud. Nevertheless, Petitioners cite to no authority whereby a plaintiff 

alleging a violation of the West Virginia Human Rights Act may be forced to pay attorney fees 

and costs if there is a determination that her claims are "unreasonable." 
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Significantly, courts considering the issue have found that the possibility of an award of 

attorney fees to a prevailing defendant (not otherwise provided for under the law) is indicative of 

substantive unconscionability as it is a deterrent to the vindication of significant rights. See 

Saravia v. Dvnamex, Inc., 310 F.R.D. 412, 422 (N.D. Cal. 2015) ("This order finds that the 

imposition of these fees are effective deterrents to Saravia's pursuit of his rights against 

Dynamex under the FLSA and further demonstrate the substantive unconscionability of 

arbitration in this context."); Nesbitt v. FCNH, Inc., 811 F.3d 371, 380 (lOth Cir. 2016) (finding 

the possibility that arbitration agreement removed ability of prevailing plaintiff to obtain attorney 

fee award a deterrent to vindicating rights and thus the arbitration agreement was 

unconscionable); Daugherty v. Encana Oil & Gas (USA)' Inc., 2011 WL 2791338 at 12 (D. 

Colo. July 15, 2011) ("Arbitration provisions like the two discussed here erect impermissible 

obstacles to Plaintiffs' ability to avail themselves of the rights and protections afforded by the 

FLSA."); Ouilloin v. Tenet HealthSystem Philadelphia. Inc., 673 F.3d 221, 230-31 (3d Cir. 

2012) ("Provisions requiring parties to be responsible for their own expenses, including 

attorneys' fees, are generally unconscionable because restrictions on attorneys' fees conflict with 

federal statutes providing fee-shifting as a remedy."). 

By far, the most common examples of arbitral provisions that 
thwart effective vindication of federal statutory rights ... are those 
that impose prohibitive costs on the plaintiff (such as paying or 
splitting the arbitrator's fee), or that would hold the plaintiff liable 
for the defendant's attorneys' fees and costs if the plaintiff is 
unsuccessful. 

Pollard v. ETS PC, Inc., 2016 WL 2983530, at *7 (D. Colo. May 12, 2016). 

Given the above authority, it is apparent that the Circuit Court was correct in determining 

that the provisions purporting to shift costs and attorney fees to the Respondent are substantively 
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unconscionable. Having found that the agreement is substantively unconscionable, the Circuit 

Court then analyzed the agreement for evidence of procedural unconscionability. Procedural 

unconscionability refers to unfairness in the bargaining process and formation of a contract. See 

SyI. pt. 10, Brown II, 229 W. Va. at 386, 729 S.E.2d at 221. It arises from circumstances that 

result "in the lack of a real and voluntary meeting of the minds of the parties." Id. 

When evaluating the fairness of a contract's formation, circuit courts should pay 

particular note to "the age, literacy, or lack of sophistication of a party; hidden or unduly 

complex contract terms; the adhesive nature of the contract; and the manner and setting in which 

the contract was formed, including whether each party had a reasonable opportunity to 

understand the terms of the contract." Id.; see also Art's Flower Shop, Inc. v. Chesapeake and 

Potomac Telephone Co., 186 W. Va. 613, 618, 413 S.E.2d 670, 675 (1991) (identifying further 

relevant factors such as the relative positions of the parties, the nature of the contract, the 

adequacy of bargaining position, and the existence of meaningful alternatives available to the 

claimant). 

In State ex reI. Richmond American Homes of West Virginia, Inc. v. Sanders, the West 

Virginia Supreme Court upheld the trial court's finding that an arbitration agreement was 

procedurally unconscionable. 228 W. Va. 125, 717 S.E.2d 909 (2011). In that case, a number of 

Respondents had sued the contractor responsible for building their homes after they realized that 

radon gas leaking into their homes. Id. at 129,913. The contractor moved to compel arbitration 

pursuant to a purchase agreement that 17 of the 40 Respondents had signed. The arbitration 

policy was incorporated into that purchase agreement. The contractor attempted to bind the 

other 23 Respondents to arbitration by reasoning that they were either close family members 

(children) to the signatory Respondents or that they purchased their homes from a non-party who 
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had entered into a purchase agreement with the contractor which also contained an arbitration 

clause. Id. at 130-31, 914-15. In finding that the arbitration agreement was procedurally 

unconscionable, the trial court noted that it was a non-negotiable term in a contract of adhesion. 

Id. at 138, 922. The Respondent home-owners had less sophistication and understanding of the 

terms of arbitration than did the contractor, a multi-million dollar corporation, and its attorneys. 

The trial court made this determination even though the signatory Respondents were advised by 

an attorney-albeit an attorney hired by the contractor-when they signed the agreement. The 

West Virginia Supreme Court agreed and upheld the lower court. 

Here, the Circuit Court found that the first indication the arbitration agreement was 

procedurally unconscionable was that it is a contract of adhesion-allegedly offered to the 

Respondent as a "this or nothing" condition of her employment. 

The Circuit Court found further evidence of procedural unconscionability. 

The acceptance page Plaintiff was allegedly required to sign 
simply stated that individual "acknowledges" that she has received 
a copy of the program and that it "shall apply to me." (AR. at 25). 
It does not say that it is an agreement. It does not say that it is a 
waiver. The signature page did not state that the Plaintiff was 
waiving any rights, that there was any mandatory arbitration 
provision or that the Plaintiff was foregoing her constitutional right 
to access to the court system in any way. Moreover, nothing in the 
agreement indicates the Plaintiff should consult an attorney prior to 
signing the agreement in order to facilitate a knowing waiver of 
her rights. In fact, the defendants have not provided any evidence 
that the procedure in which these "acknowledgments" are 
presented to and obtained from an employee are reasonable and 
provide an opportunity for the employee to understand the terms. 

(AR. at 84). 

Because of the failures referenced above, the Circuit Court found that the "agreement" is 

also procedurally unconscionable. (AR. at 84-85). 
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After finding that the agreement was both substantively and procedurally unconscionable, 

the Circuit Court had a variety of remedies available to it. "If a court, as a matter of law, finds a 

contract or any clause of a contract to be unconscionable, the court may refuse to enforce the 

contract, enforce the remainder of the contract without the unconscionable clause, or limit the 

application of any unconscionable clause to avoid any unconscionable result." Syl. pt. 8, Brown 

II, 229 W. Va. at 386, 729 S.E.2d at 221. Upon consideration of these remedies, the Circuit 

Court found that ''the agreement is a contract of adhesion, contains numerous unconscionable 

provisions and thus is not amenable to any attempt to tailor it to achieve a fair result." (A.R. at 

85). Therefore, the Circuit Court denied the Motion to Enforce Arbitration "as the alleged 

contract is unenforceable due to both substantive and procedural unconscionability." (A.R. at 

85). Significantly, the Petitioners have not alleged that the Circuit Court erred in selecting this 

remedy. 

Because of the failure of the Petitioners to provide evidence of an enforceable arbitration 

agreement, the Circuit Court properly denied the Motion To Enforce Arbitration. Therefore, this 

Court should affirm the Order entered by the Circuit Court. 

CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing evidence and authority, it is apparent that the Circuit Court did 

not commit error as alleged by the Petitioners. Therefore, the Circuit Court's Order Denying 

Petitioners' Motion To Enforce Arbitration must be affinned.